
Public Accounts Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
8 November 2011  

 

Meeting time: 
09:00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Sarah Beasley 
Committee Clerk 
029 2089 8032 
Publicaccounts.comm@Wales.gov.uk  

Name  
Deputy Committee Clerk 
029 2089 xxxx 
Name@wales.gov.uk 

 

 

Agenda 
 

 

1. Motion to elect Temporary Chair (09:15- 09:20)   
Motion under Standing Order 17.22 to appoint a Temporary Chair in the absence of 
the Chair.  

2. Introductions, apologies and substitutions (09:20 - 09:25)  

3. Consideration of the amended Estimate of Income and Expenses 
of the office of the Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 
2013 (09:25 - 09:35) (Pages 1 - 17)  
PAC(4) 06-11 – Paper 1 - Wales Audit Office report: Estimate of income and 
expenses of the office of the Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013 
 
PAC(4) 06-11 – Paper 2 – Correspondence from the Auditor General for Wales 
regarding his Estimate of income and expenses for the year ending 31 March 2013  

4. Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the meeting for the following business:    
Item 5  

5. Consideration of Draft report on the Estimate of the Income and 
Expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 
March 2013 (09:35 - 10:00) (Pages 18 - 26) 

6. Hospital Catering and Patient Nutrition: Evidence from the Chief 
Executive of NHS Wales (10:00 - 11:00) (Pages 27 - 33)  

Public Document Pack



PAC(4)-07-11 – Paper 3 – Welsh Government evidence: Hospital Catering and Patient 
Nutrition 
 
David Sissling, Director General, Health Social Services and Children  
Jean White, Chief Nursing Officer/Nurse Director for NHS Wales 
Andrew Walker, Head of Capital, Estates & Facilities  
  

7. Papers to note  (Pages 34 - 35)  
Minutes of previous meeting  



Estimate of the income and expenses of the

office of Auditor General for the year ending

31 March 2013

November 2011

www.wao.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of 

Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Submitted to the Public Accounts Committee of the National Assembly for Wales 

under Paragraph 12 of Schedule 8 to the Government of Wales Act 2006

Huw Vaughan Thomas

Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff

CF11 9LJ

The Auditor General and the auditors he appoints in local government are the statutory external auditors of most of

the Welsh public sector. They are responsible for the annual audit of the majority of public money spent in Wales,

including the £14 billion of funds that are voted to Wales annually by the Westminster Parliament. Elements of this

funding are passed by the Welsh Government to the NHS in Wales (over £5 billion) and to local government 

(over £4 billion).

The Auditor General and his staff together form the Wales Audit Office, which was established in April 2005. 

The Auditor General is the Accounting Officer for the Wales Audit Office and is personally responsible for its 

overall organisation, management and staffing as well as its procedures in relation to financial and other matters.

A summary of the main operational activities of the Auditor General and the auditors he appoints in local

government, alongside associated sources of funding, is provided in Appendix 1 of this estimate. The staff of the

Wales Audit Office deliver approximately two-thirds of the annual audit work. The remainder is contracted out by

the Auditor General to private sector accountancy firms.

Page 2



Introduction and summary of budget requirements 4

Estimate of income and expenses 7

Strategic approach 7

Reductions to fee income 8

Further savings and efficiencies 9

Additional costs to be incurred 10

Areas of uncertainty 11

Appendices 12

Appendix 1 - Main operational activities of the Auditor General and the 

auditors he appoints in local government, and associated sources of funding 12

Appendix 2 - Estimated budget requirements of the Auditor General for the 

year ending 31 March 2013 13

Appendix 3 - Estimate of the income and expenses of the Wales Audit Office 

for the year ending 31 March 2013 15

Contents

Page 3



1 As Auditor General, I must prepare an

estimate of the income and expenses of my

office (the Wales Audit Office) for each

financial year and submit the estimate to the

Public Accounts Committee1.

2 I invite the Public Accounts Committee to

examine and lay this estimate of my income

and expenses for the year ending 31 March

2013 before the National Assembly2.

3 The estimate that I am presenting provides a

real terms3 reduction of 14.4 per cent against

the total net resource requirement sought for

2011-124. I am seeking revenue funding of

£4.724 million, plus £0.016 million for capital

expenditure. The total net resource request is

therefore for £4.740 million, compared with

£5.403 million in 2011-12 and £5.047 million

in both 2009-10 and 2010-11. Following PAC

discussion of my earlier paper, my request

excludes the cost of a new HR/payroll system

which I estimate will be in the region of

£110,000. I will at a later stage consider

submitting a Supplementary Estimate once

my newly established Resources Committee

has had a chance to scrutinise the proposed

costs of the new system, and I have

considered their recommendations.

4 Exhibit 1 illustrates the cumulative real terms

variance in total net resource requirement

sought for each of the years 2009-10 to 

2012-13.

5 I provide in Exhibit 2 an estimate of how the

net resource requested for the year ending 

31 March 2013 will be used. 

6 My budget requirements for the year ending

31 March 2013 are presented in a format

appropriate for inclusion in the Ministers’

Budget Motion in Appendix 2, alongside

reconciliation of the net resource requirement

to the cash drawing requirement from the

Welsh Consolidated Fund.

7 In addition to the amounts shown in Appendix

2, I am permitted to retain5 resources accrued

from local government audit, assessment and

inspection work6. During 2012-13, these

resources are estimated to amount to £9.576

million, compared with £11.379 million in

2011-12 (see Appendix 3 for reconciliation of

income accruals estimate to fees and other

income total). These resources do not form

part of the amount to be authorised by Budget

Motion, but are included for information.

Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 20134

Introduction and summary of budget requirements

1  At least five months before the beginning of the financial year to which it relates, as laid out under Paragraph 12 of Schedule 8 to the Government of Wales Act 2006 

(the 2006 Act).

2  This estimate is based on the assumption that my Supplementary Estimate of Income and Expenses for the Year Ending 31 March 2012, submitted to the Public Accounts 

Committee in September 2011, is laid before the National Assembly without modification.

3  Real terms variances calculated using latest available HM Treasury GDP deflator series data as of 30 September 2011:

Year ending Per cent change on previous year

31 March 2011 2.97

31 March 2012 2.90

31 March 2013 2.50

4  As set out in my Supplementary Estimate of Income and Expenses for the Year Ending 31 March 2012, which amends my original estimate of the total net resource requirement 

of £4,853,000.

5  Under Paragraph 9(3) of Schedule 8 to the 2006 Act.

6  Carried out under Part 1 (Section 33) of the Local Government Act 1999, Part 2 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and Part 1 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Page 4



5Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Exhibit 1 - Cumulative real terms variance in the net resource requirement sought by the 

Auditor General for each of the years 2009-10 to 2012-13

-16%

-14%

-12%

-10%

-8%

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13

1.0%

-2.9%

-9.2%

-13.5%

(including supplementary provision 

for a voluntary severance scheme)

Exhibit 2 - Estimate of use of approved net resource requirement in 2012-13 and comparison 

with 2011-12

Year to 

31 March 2013

£000

Year to 

31 March 2012

£000

Value for money examinations and studies by the Auditor General 1,635 1,635

Working with others to share learning, including provision of the Good

Practice Exchange

200 200

Providing support to the Public Accounts Committee and other National

Assembly committees

250 250

Responding to issues that have been brought to our attention through

correspondence from the public, elected representatives and others

80 80

Granting of approvals to draw from the Welsh Consolidated Fund 15 15

Page 5



6 Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Exhibit 2 - Estimate of use of approved net resource requirement in 2012-13 and comparison 

with 2011-12 (continued)

Year to 

31 March 2013

£000

Year to 

31 March 2012

£000

Contributions to the following:

Staff training and development 792 850

IT infrastructure 772 850

Technical support, research and development 500 500

Business development and improvement 360 453

Meeting equality duties 80 0

Remuneration of governance committee members 40 0

Voluntary severance scheme 0 550

Total revenue expenditure requirement 4,724 5,383

Capital expenditure 16 20

Total net resource requirement 4,740 5,403

Page 6



7Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Exhibit 3 - Cumulative real terms reduction in Wales Audit Office total annual expenditure between

2009-10 and 2012-13

-25%

-20%

-15%

-10%

-5%

0%

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13

-21.7%

-16.6%

-24.1%

(forecast) (estimate)

7  In March 2010 we published A Picture of Public Services, which estimated the financial challenges facing public services in Wales. A second report entitled A Picture of Public 

Services 2011 was published and submitted to the Public Accounts Committee in October 2011. The second report sets out my perspective on the readiness of public services 

to manage with less.

8 My estimate of the income and expenses of

the Wales Audit Office, and the resultant net

resource requirement for the year ending 

31 March 2013 is provided in Appendix 3.

9 Exhibits 3 and 4 illustrate the cumulative real

terms reductions in Wales Audit Office

expenditure and audit fee income respectively

between 2009-10 and 2012-13. These 

four-year profiles demonstrate the ongoing

decreases in both my overall expenditure

(£4.6 million reduction over the period) and

also in the fees charged to the bodies that I

audit (£3.4 million reduction over the period). 

I also receive annual grant funding from the

Welsh Government to support my work in

local government on the Wales Programme

for Improvement. Since 2009-10 that funding

has been reduced in real terms by 25.6 per

cent and for 2012-13 will be £1.347 million.

Strategic approach

10 My analysis of the key risks and opportunities

facing all public bodies in Wales7 underpins

my plans for the Wales Audit Office. In

accordance with my corporate strategy, I will

continue to flex our work programme to reflect

changing risks and opportunities and will

continue to make efforts to move away from a

‘one size fits all’ approach to audit, within the

constraints of the legislative framework that

Estimate of income and expenses

Page 7



8 Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

underpins our work. In all our activities, I am

determined that our work will provide the

people of Wales with independent robust

information on how their money is spent. 

The Wales Audit Office will continue to

promote good governance, strong financial

discipline and continuing improvement in

service quality, even in these difficult times.

Reductions to fee income

11 In recognition of the financial constraints

faced by public sector bodies, we are

continuing to seek to reduce our audit fees.

Between 2009 and 2011 we achieved a cash

terms reduction of £1.27 million (8.0 per cent)

in the fees we charged for local government,

NHS and central government audits, and local

government grant work. We achieved this 

by making cost savings, through achieving

efficiency improvements and by taking a 

more proportionate approach to our work. 

We are continuing to develop ways in which

high levels of public assurance can be

secured for less resource, including by

placing further appropriate reliance on robust

review and self-assessment by others. My

estimate for the year ending 31 March 2013

has been prepared on the basis that there is

the potential for delivering one further round

of cash terms fee reductions of up to five per

cent in 2012-13. However, the potential for

any fee reductions is dependent on each local

body’s circumstances. The fee must be

sufficient to fund the work required to enable

auditors to properly discharge their

responsibilities, considering local

circumstances such as the governance

environment, risk, financial and performance

management arrangements, size, complexity

and the body’s track record on improvement.

If unplanned or additional work is required as

a result of failures by audited bodies to

provide what my staff need for them to do

their work efficiently, I will charge additional

fees commensurate with the additional work

involved.

Exhibit 4 - Cumulative real terms reduction in fees charged annually to audited bodies between

2009-10 and 2012-13

-25%

-20%

-15%

-10%

-5%

0%

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13

-18.2%

-9.2%

-24.6%

(forecast) (estimate)

Page 8



9Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

8  For further information, please refer to the Auditor General’s Annual Report and Accounts 2010-11.

Exhibit 5 - Numbers of Wales Audit Office whole-time equivalent staff over the five-year period

2006-07 to 2010-11 

200

225

250

275

300

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

264

284

270

W
h

o
le

-t
im

e
 e

q
u

iv
a

le
n

ts

260

222

12 The Welsh Government provides me with

grant funding to support improvement

assessment work and local government

studies. Following recent discussions with

Government officials, I have included an

assumption that the level of grant funding will

reduce in cash terms in 2012-13 by a further

four per cent in my estimate for the year

ending 31 March 2013. 

Further savings and efficiencies

13 All public sector bodies, including the Wales

Audit Office, face the challenge of continuing

to deliver the best possible services against a

background of unprecedented pressures on

public finances. Whilst we have exceeded our

overall efficiency targets over the last five

years, we continue to review our expenditure

and the work of our internal Savings and

Efficiency Review Group has helped to

accelerate our progress in this area. The

overall level of one-off and recurring savings

that we achieved in 2010-11 through both

cost reduction and greater efficiency in areas

such as staff costs and ICT expenditure was

over £1,000,0008. Whilst this scale of in-year

savings was exceptional and will not be

repeatable in future years, I am committed to

ongoing review and challenge of our

expenditure and working practices to ensure

we deliver our work as cost effectively as

possible, whilst maximising the impact of our

work.

14 In common with many public bodies, the

largest area of Wales Audit Office expenditure

is staff salaries and associated costs. 

Exhibit 5 illustrates the reduction in the

numbers of whole-time equivalent staff over

the five-year period 2006-07 to 2010-11 

(21.8 per cent) as set out in our audited

annual report and accounts.

Page 9



10 Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

9  As outlined in my Supplementary Estimate of Income and Expenditure for the Year Ending 31 March 2012.

10  Further information is available on the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s website: www.equalityhumanrights.com/wales/publications/guidance-on-the-equality-duty-for-

the-welsh-public-sector/

15 Part of the financial savings that we have

achieved through reduction in staff numbers

has been derived from a voluntary severance

scheme under which 14 staff left the Wales

Audit Office during the course of 2010-11. 

As explained in my 2011-12 Supplementary

Estimate, I have identified the scope for a

further voluntary severance scheme in the

current financial year, which is intended to

support a staff mix more aligned to future

work demands and further reduce the staff

costs of the Wales Audit Office9. I estimate

that the total cost of this new voluntary

severance scheme in 2011-12 will be around

£800,000 and will result in savings of at least

£200,000 in 2012-13, and will then generate

ongoing savings in future years. However, my

ability to realise these savings is dependent

on there being sufficient staff interest in the

scheme.

16 My staff have also identified other efficiencies

which we anticipate will further help to reduce

our cost base beyond 2012-13:

a We are in the process of making changes

to our vehicle fleet arrangements, which

will help to improve staff safety and 

well-being, reduce our impact on the

environment, provide cost savings of

around £72,000 in 2013-14, and realise

further savings in future years.

b Earlier this year we undertook a review of

our estate and considered further options

to reduce our financial impact, address

accessibility and other issues with our

premises, and explore opportunities to

share surplus space with other public

bodies. We are now consulting with

relevant staff on those options. The

proposed changes to our premises are

estimated to deliver savings of around

£45,000 per annum from 2013-14

onwards, following initial moving and 

other costs.

Additional costs to be incurred

17 Whilst we shall continue to review our

expenditure, exercise pay restraint and defer

all non-essential spending in 2012-13, we will

face some unavoidable increased costs:

a In common with all public authorities, the

Auditor General is required to comply with

the new General Public Sector Equality

Duty10, which for the Auditor General

commenced in May 2011. This means that

in planning and undertaking our work, we

must consider how that work can, amongst

other things, help eliminate discrimination,

advance equality of opportunity and foster

good relations between people with

protected characteristics. The Welsh

Government’s statutory impact assessment

for the new duties estimated that public

bodies would need two staff to deal with

the implementation of the new specific

duties and showed that estimates of

dedicated staff resources for the previous

promotional duties ranged between some

300 and 650 hours a year (some 1.5 to

3.25 whole-time equivalents). The Auditor

General must also comply with the Specific

Public Sector Equality Duties for Wales. 

As the Auditor General was outside the

scope of most of the promotional duties of

the previous legislation, the requirements

of the new duties are generally additional

rather than simply replacing existing

requirements. Therefore, in order to help

me discharge these new statutory duties, 

I have included in this estimate costs of

£80,000 equivalent to retaining two 

whole-time equivalent members of staff.

Page 10



11Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

b The new governance arrangements

introduced in 2011 aim to ensure that

whoever holds the office of Auditor

General, they will be subject to a rigorous

and robust framework of checks and

balances. Whilst we have absorbed the

increased administrative costs of the new

arrangements, included in this estimate 

is an additional £40,000 to fund the

remuneration and other associated costs 

of the six new non-executive committee

members who have now been appointed.

Areas of uncertainty

Value Added Tax

18 As reported in the annual Auditor General

estimate papers each year since the creation

of the Wales Audit Office in 2005, discussions

are continuing with HMRC on my Value

Added Tax (VAT) status. The potential liability

associated with any change in my VAT status

may be significant and might require me to

make a future request for supplementary

resources.

Legislative changes: Westminster

19 In my original estimate for the year ending 

31 March 2012, I emphasised the additional

costs to the Wales Audit Office that could

result from the abolition of the Audit

Commission. We currently pay the Audit

Commission £10,000 annually for the use 

of their Housing Benefit Inspection software.

Following the forthcoming abolition of the

Commission, we will no longer have to pay

that charge but will instead probably have to

develop and maintain our own Wales-specific

software product. We are likely to need to buy

in some ICT support for the development

work, and there will be staff costs incurred on

that design and development project. I have

included £40,000 development costs for the

replacement product in my estimate for 

2012-13, and am likely to include £10,000 for

maintenance costs annually in my estimates

for 2013-14 onwards. There may well be

further costs for us directly flowing from the

abolition which might require me to make a

future request for supplementary resources.

However, it will not be possible to quantify

these costs until the UK Government

publishes more information on the details 

of its proposals.

Legislative changes: Wales

20 It is also likely that I will incur further costs

towards the end of 2012-13 associated 

with forthcoming collaboration and audit

legislation11 and any resultant additional or

amended statutory powers and duties. It will

not be possible to quantify these costs until

draft legislation is made available for

consideration. Whilst I will endeavour to

absorb any such costs, the extent of changes

to legislation may require me to make a future

request for supplementary resources.

11  Announced by the First Minister as part of the Welsh Government’s legislative programme for 2011-2016 in July 2011.

Page 11



12 Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Activity Scale Source of funding

Audit of accounts prepared

by central government and

health bodies

Eight accounts prepared by the Welsh Government;  

31 other accounts, including the Assembly Commission,

seven health boards and three NHS trusts.

Fees charged to audited bodies.

Audit of accounts prepared

by local government

bodies

Twenty-two unitary authorities, four police authorities, 

three fire and rescue authorities, one probation trust, 

three national park authorities, one internal drainage

board, seven pension funds, 750 community councils 

and other small bodies.

Fees charged to audited bodies.

Local government

improvement assessments

Includes audits of whether authorities have discharged

their improvement planning and performance reporting

duties, assessments of the likelihood of compliance with

improvement duties and special inspections. Undertaken 

at 22 unitary authorities, three fire and rescue authorities

and three national park authorities.

Fees charged to audited bodies.

The Welsh Government also

provides grant funding to support

improvement assessment work.

Local performance audit

work at health bodies

Includes assessments of arrangements to secure value for

money in use of resources. Undertaken at seven health

boards and three NHS trusts.

Fees charged to audited bodies.

Certification of grant claims

and returns

Thirty-eight local government schemes (around 800 claims

with a total annual value of some £1.5 billion), alongside

European structural fund claims with a total annual 

claim value of around £300 million.

Fees charged to audited bodies.

Value for money

examinations and studies

Typically 13 examinations and studies are undertaken in

the course of a calendar year, looking at value for money

in key areas of public spending. Often this work is

undertaken from a ‘whole-system’ or ‘cross-cutting’

perspective, where public spending is examined

irrespective of who delivers the services. 

Financed mostly from the Welsh

Consolidated Fund, following

approval by the National Assembly. 

The Welsh Government also

provides grant funding to support

local government studies.

Other significant activities Includes:

• checking requests for grant of approval to draw from

the Welsh Consolidated Fund;

• working with others to share learning, including

provision of the Good Practice Exchange;

• anti-fraud and other data matching exercises, including

the National Fraud Initiative;

• responding to issues that have been brought to our

attention through correspondence from the public,

elected representatives and others; 

• providing support to the Public Accounts Committee

and other National Assembly committees; and

• administration of the Wales Audit Office.

Financed mostly from the Welsh

Consolidated Fund, following

approval by the National Assembly.

Some activities are also funded in

part by fees charged to audited

bodies.

Appendix 1 - Main operational activities of the Auditor

General and the auditors he appoints in local government,

and associated sources of funding

Page 12



13Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Appendix 2 - Estimated budget requirements of the 

Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

The Welsh Ministers must move an annual Budget Motion in the National Assembly12 to authorise,

amongst other things:

a the amount of resources which may be used in the financial year by the Auditor General;

b the amount of resources accruing to the Auditor General which may be retained by him 

(rather than paid into the Welsh Consolidated Fund); and

c the amount which may be paid out of the Welsh Consolidated Fund to the Auditor General.

The estimate examined and laid by the Public Accounts Committee is incorporated into the Budget Motion. 

These resource and cash requirements, which due to the variability of income streams can only be

estimates, are summarised below.

Estimated budget requirements of the Auditor General for the 

year ending 31 March 2013

Resources other than accruing resources for use by the Auditor General on the

discharge of the statutory functions of the Auditor General and local government

appointed auditors, and on the administration of the Wales Audit Office13.

4,740

Accruing resources from fees and charges for audit and related services (excluding for

local government audit, assessment and inspection work); other recoveries of costs

associated with the functions of the Auditor General; miscellaneous income from

publications, conferences, provision of administrative and professional and technical

services; recoveries of costs of seconded staff; repayments of staff loans; recoveries 

of car leasing payments; and interest received on working balances for use by the

Auditor General on related services and the administration of the Wales Audit Office14.

7,271

Net cash requirement from the Welsh Consolidated Fund to meet the net amounts

falling due for payment in the year by the Auditor General15.

4,740

12  Under Section 125 of the 2006 Act.

13  This is the net revenue and capital expenditure in resource terms that the National Assembly will be requested to authorise by Budget Motion under Section 125(1)(a) of the 

2006 Act.

14  This is the income accruing to the Auditor General (other than that arising from local government activities under Part 1 and Section 33 of the Local Government Act 1999, Part 2 

of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and Part 1 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009) that the National Assembly will be asked to authorise by Budget Motion under 

Section 125(1)(b) of the 2006 Act for use on related services rather than being paid into the Welsh Consolidated Fund.

15  This is the cash needed from the Welsh Consolidated Fund to meet the Auditor General’s estimated net payments (payments less receipts) falling due in the year for 

authorisation by the National Assembly by Budget Motion under Section 125(1)(c) of the 2006 Act.

Page 13



Reconciliation of net resource requirement to cash drawing

requirement from the Welsh Consolidated Fund

14 Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Year to 

31 March 2013

£000

Net request for resources 4,740

Movement in year-end debtors and work in progress, creditors and provisions, and

deferred income

10

Capital charges (depreciation) (10)

Net cash requirement 4,740

Page 14



15Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Appendix 3 - Estimate of the income and expenses of the

Wales Audit Office for the year ending 31 March 2013

Year to 

31 March 2013

£000

E
x
p
e
n
s
e
s

Staff-related costs16 14,638

Accommodation costs 972

Training and development costs17 792

IT costs 795

Supplies and services 4,374

Expenses total 21,571

In
c
o
m

e

Audit and inspection fees 13,236

Wales Programme for Improvement grant from the Welsh Government 1,347

Local government grant certification fees 1,948

Other income 316

Fees and other income total 16,847

Total net revenue expenditure requirement 4,724

Capital expenditure requirement 16

Total net resource requirement 4,740

16  Includes an estimated saving of £200,000 to be achieved through a further voluntary severance scheme.

17  Includes staff time and direct costs.

Page 15



16 Estimate of the income and expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013

Reconciliation of income accruals estimate to fees and 

other income total

Year to 

31 March 2013

£000

Income accruing to the Auditor General other than that arising from local

government activities

7,271

Income accruing to the Auditor General from local government audit, assessment

and inspection work

9,576

Fees and other income total 16,847

Page 16



F
IN

(4
)- 0

6
-1

1
 P

a
p

e
r 2

P
age 17



Agenda Item 5

Page 18

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted



 
Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(4)-06-11 – Paper 3 

 
Wales Audit Office report on Hospital Catering & Nutrition 
 
 
Introduction 

1. The Welsh Government welcomes the Auditor General’s report on Hospital 
Catering and Patient Nutrition. It is committed to addressing the issues 
identified by the report to improve services and patient experience.  

2. This paper provides the Committee with an overview of the work that has 
been undertaken to improve hospital catering and patient nutrition. It also 
outlines current and future developments. The Welsh Government recognises 
that although catering arrangements and nutritional care provided to patients 
in Welsh hospitals have improved, good practice needs to be uniformly 
implemented so that all patients’ nutritional needs are met.  

3. Responsibility for delivering the Auditor General’s recommendations is 
shared between the Welsh Government, the Local Health Boards and 
Velindre NHS Trust. 

Background 
 
4. In November 2007, the then Minister for Health and Social Services 
established the Empowering Ward Sister/Charge Nurse Task and Finish 
Group.  The report which followed, Free to Lead Free to Care (WAG 2008), 
made 35 recommendations. These included the development of an All Wales 
Fundamentals of Care Audit Tool, the development of an All Wales Nutrition 
Care Pathway and the development of an All Wales Food Record Chart. 
 
5. In 2009 the All Wales Nutrition Care Pathway was introduced across all 
wards in every hospital in Wales.  The Care Pathway assists nurses in the 
decision making process associated with the nutritional screening of every 
patient on admission and the nutritional care required throughout their hospital 
stay.  It is supported by the new All Wales Food Record Chart and the revised 
Daily and Weekly Intake and Output Charts, with accompanying posters 
giving pictorial illustrations of various portion sizes. These charts and posters 
enable the accurate, standardised recording of patients food and drink intake 
across NHS Wales, supporting the identification, monitoring and treatment of 
nutritionally at risk patients. 
 
6. These developments were underpinned by a Nutrition Awareness 
Campaign for staff delivered by RCN Wales which aimed to raise the 
importance of food and hydration to the same level as that given to 
medication. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 27



7. In 2010 revised Healthcare Standards for Wales, ‘Doing Well Doing Better: 
Standards for Health Services in Wales’, were published. The new standard 
for hospital food, Standard 14, and the accompanying guidance strengthened 
the requirements for meeting patients’ nutritional needs and the importance of 
implementing the All Wales Nutrition Care Pathway. 
 
8. Since 2002 the NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership – Facilities 
Services (NHS-SSP-FS), formerly Welsh Health Estates, has maintained a 
database of performance information based on annual Local Health Board 
and Trust returns. This includes information on hospital catering services as 
well as other issues such as cleaning.  This database is referred to as the 
Estates and Facilities Performance Management System (EFPMS). In relation 
to catering EFPMS can assist health bodies to improve performance in areas 
such as food wastage and catering costs. It also provides the Welsh 
Government with a better understanding of NHS performance including the 
provision of hospital catering.   
 
Auditor General’s Findings 
 
9.  The Auditor General’s report concludes that catering arrangements and 
nutritional care have generally improved since the Audit Commission in Wales 
study in 2002, and that patient satisfaction remains high. However, it also 
concludes that more still needs to be done to ensure recognised good 
practice is more widely implemented, particularly in relation to nutritional 
screening and care planning, and to ensure that food waste is minimised. The 
report raises four broad issues in relation to the provision of hospital catering 
and patient nutrition: 
 
i. Patients are typically screened for nutritional problems but the quality of 
nutritional screening can be improved (WAO report pages 21-27). 
 
ii. Most hospitals provide an appropriate choice of meals and patients are 
generally satisfied with the food they receive, but the nutritional assessment of 
menus and patients’ mealtime experiences need to improve (WAO report 
pages 28-35). 
 
iii. A clearer management focus on the costs of catering services is needed to 
better understand the variations that exist across NHS organisations and to 
reduce food wastage, which remains unacceptably high on many wards 
(WAO report pages 36-46). 
 
iv. More work is needed to develop clearer national and local planning 
frameworks for planning and delivering catering services, and ensuring that 
these are informed by the views of patients (WAO report pages 47-52). 
 
Ensuring patients nutritional needs are met  
Progress on WAO recommendations 1a, 1b, 1c, 1d, 1e, 2a, 2b, 3a, 3b, 3c 

 
10. To ensure that all ward staff understand how to fully implement the All 
Wales Nutrition Care Pathway and complete the All Wales Food Record 

Page 28



Chart, an E-learning package was introduced in September 2011.  The full 
implementation of the All Wales Nutrition Care Pathway will address many of 
the issues raised in the audit report. The Care Pathway requires all patients to 
be nutritionally screened on admission. The screening will identify all patients 
who have nutritional problems, or who are at risk of developing them, and 
activate an appropriate care plan, evaluation and monitoring process. All ward 
based staff are required to complete the e-learning training package in the 
next 12 months and new staff will have to complete it within 12 months of 
appointment.  
 
11. In 2011 the Free to Lead Free to Care - Post Implementation Group was 
established to undertake specific projects that support improvements in 
patient care. This includes addressing issues identified in Fundamentals of 
Care Audits and national reports such as the Older People’s Commissioner 
for Wales report ‘Dignified Care?’ (2011). A working group has been 
established to review and standardise nursing documentation across Wales, 
thus ensuring a consistent approach to nutritional screening and care 
planning.  
 
12. The implementation of the All Wales Nutrition Care Pathway and the 
compliance with the training requirement is monitored through the 
Fundamentals of Care Audit Tool. Since 2009 NHS organisations are required 
to undertake a full audit of all their hospital wards/departments on an annual 
basis and submit the results to the Chief Nursing Officer/Nurse Director for 
Wales. The electronic system underpinning the audit tool can analyse and 
generate reports from the data entered at ward level. It also enables each 
ward to develop action plans to address identified issues causing concern as 
well as building on areas of good practice.  The 2010 All Wales Fundamentals 
of Care audit showed that since 2009 all Health Boards/Trusts have improved 
their overall score for the Eating and Drinking standard, from both the 
operational and user perspective. For example Cardiff and the Vale have 
improved on their operational score in 2009 of 75% to 90.8% in 2010 and their 
user perspective score from 79.1% to 91.7% respectively. 
 
13. Five of the eight NHS bodies specifically report that their local Wales Audit 
Office reports are being used as a key driver for improvements in nutrition and 
catering.  All NHS bodies state that they follow the Care Pathway and that 
patient care planning is based on the outcome of nutritional screening. They 
are addressing any issues with poor compliance to the Care Pathway. Each 
Health Board/Trust has appointed a co-ordinator to lead, monitor and 
feedback on the implementation of the e-learning training on the Care 
Pathway, ensuring that all ward based staff receive the training within 12 
months.  
 
14. Building on the All Wales Care Pathway, All Wales Nutrition and Catering 
Standards for Food and Fluid Provision for Hospital Inpatients were 
introduced in October 2011 and are being phased in for all hospitals. They set 
nutrient and food based standards for meals, snacks and fluid. A group of 
dietitians and caterers has been established to develop a national database of 
nutritionally analysed menus and recipes that comply with the Standards.  

Page 29



 
Improving Patients’ mealtime experience 
Progress on WAO recommendations 3a, 3b, 3c 
 
15. All NHS bodies have, or are in the process of, reviewing menus and 
arrangements for ordering and serving food to ensure that they provide 
appropriate choices for patients’ dietary and cultural needs and meet the new 
All Wales Nutrition and Catering Standards for Food and Fluid Provision for 
Hospital Inpatients. All NHS bodies also report reviewing practices at ward 
level, to make sure that staff prepare the ward environment so that it 
encourages patients to eat and that patients are helped to get ready for their 
meals, including being able to wash their hands before the meal is served. 
The majority have utilised patient feedback to inform changes in practice and 
have identified a specific member of the ward team to actively promote and 
implement new practices. 
 
16. All NHS bodies indicate that the majority of wards operate protected 
mealtime policy.  They flagged complacency as an issue and it is recognised 
that there is still work to do with wider, non nursing, disciplines in order to 
make protected mealtimes the norm. For example working with doctors to 
discourage non urgent clinical activity during mealtimes. 
 
Controlling the cost of catering service 
Progress on WAO recommendations 4a, 4b, 5a, 5b, 5c, 6a, 6b, 6c, 6d, 7a, 
7b 
 
17. Work is underway, in partnership with Aneurin Bevan Local Health Board, 
to develop a model for costing patient and non-patient catering services to 
enable meaningful comparison of hospital catering costs across Wales. This 
will be complete by end of December 2011 and will build on the good practice 
model already developed by the Board, which currently identifies costs for 
patient and non-patient catering services. At the same time NHS-SSP-FS are 
liaising with Local Health Boards and Velindre NHS Trust to obtain detailed 
information on costing models they currently use to inform the EFPMS data.  
 
18. Over half of the NHS bodies are implementing computerised catering 
information systems and the others are currently reviewing their practices. All 
NHS bodies report that a large percentage of products are purchased through 
all Wales NHS Shared Services Partnership-Procurement Services, formerly 
Welsh Health Supplies contracts. The majority of NHS bodies have some 
standardised costed recipes in place but not all of them have established daily 
food and beverage allowances for patients. All NHS bodies recognise the 
need to address this and plan to do so as they adapt menus to comply with 
the new All Wales Nutrition and Catering Standards for Food and Fluid 
Provision for Hospital Inpatients.  This will be supported by the central 
development of a database of recipes and menus. All NHS Bodies have 
begun to address the recommendations relating to non patient catering 
services and the costing model will support this work.  
 

Page 30



19. The Audit report recommends the setting of targets for food wastage. The 
Welsh Government is currently working with Defra, Scottish Government, 
Northern Ireland and the Government sponsored body WRAP (Waste and 
Resources Action Programme) to develop a voluntary agreement for the 
Hospitality Sector, including hospital catering, which includes a waste 
reduction target. Most NHS Bodies report that they are identifying the reasons 
for wastage, and that they are using this information to reduce waste. Most 
organisations note an improvement in the development of collective 
responsibility for controlling waste with action taken at local level.   
 
Effective service planning and monitoring 
Progress on WAO recommendations 8a, 8b, 8c, 9a, 9b, 9c, 10a, 10b, 11a, 
11b, 11c 
 
20. A ‘Hospital Nutrition and Catering Framework’ website has been 
developed to bring together all the policy guidance that covers hospital 
catering and patient nutrition. It is part of ‘Health in Wales’, the organisational 
portal of NHS Wales, formally Health of Wales Information System (HOWIS).  
The ‘Framework’ website will shortly be made available on every ward in 
every hospital via the recently introduced All Wales Nursing Information Zone. 
 
21. All NHS bodies report having, or developing, local structures and multi 
disciplinary teams to ensure up to date plans and procedures are in place for 
implementing national policy requirements. Executive leads at Director level 
have been identified within each NHS body and all Boards are informed about 
catering and nutrition issues by an annual report, as a minimum. 
 
22. All NHS bodies identify nutritionally at risk patients by nutritional 
screening. Further work needs to be carried out to ensure that this information 
is shared and used to determine the likely impact on catering and nutrition 
services.  Compliance with the use of a nutritional screening tool is collected 
as part of the Fundamentals of Care Audit which is undertaken on every ward 
throughout Wales. 
 
23. Six of the eight NHS bodies reported undertaking patient satisfaction 
surveys on catering services and all are engaging patients via a range of 
mechanisms to identify issues, share findings with ward staff and caterers, 
and to ultimately improve their catering and nutrition services. 
 
24. This year, as in previous years, NHS-SSP-FS worked with NHS bodies to 
ensure they understood the data definitions and to improve the robustness of 
the data submitted. Data for the 2010-2011 EFPMS has been received with 
reports due for publication in December 2011. The EFPMS data used in the 
preparation of the reports will be available from the NHS-SSP-FS website. All 
NHS bodies report using the EFPMS data to some degree.  
 
25. This year, following publication, a feedback session is planned with all 
NHS bodies to establish how the EFPMS might become a more effective 
benchmarking tool in raising standards and improving the quality and 
efficiency of services to patients. NHS-SSP-FS are also collaborating with 

Page 31



nursing colleagues in the Welsh Government to ensure coordination between 
the data collected via the EFPMS system and that collected as part of the 
Fundamentals of Care audits. This is considered essential to the provision of 
information on local implementation of national policy objectives. 
 
Conclusion 

26. The Welsh Government is committed to improving hospital catering and 
patient nutrition.  This paper has highlighted a range of action that has already 
been taken prior to the publication of the Wales Audit Office report as well as 
significant new developments such as the new All Wales Nutrition and 
Catering Standards for Food and Fluid Provision for Hospital Inpatients which 
set nutrient and food based standards for meals, snacks and fluid. 

27. Through the use of the Fundamentals of Care Audit Tool, wards across 
Wales can identify areas of practice and patient experience which need 
improvement.  This includes the patient’s experience of eating and drinking 
whilst in hospital.  The 2011 All Wales Fundamentals of Care audit has just 
commenced and it is anticipated that NHS bodies will continue to make further 
improvements in this area. 

28. The Wales Audit Office report's findings and its recommendations will 
inform further action.  

David Sissling 

Director General Health, Social Services and Children 
October 2011 

 

 

Page 32



 

Public Accounts Committee 

 

Meeting Venue: Committee Room 3 - Senedd 
 

 

  
Meeting date:  Tuesday, 18 October 2011 

 

  
Meeting time:  09: - 11:00 

 

  

This meeting can be viewed on Senedd TV at: 
http://www.senedd.tv/archiveplayer.jsf 

 
 

Concise Minutes: 

 

   
Assembly Members:  Darren Millar (Chair) 

Mohammad Asghar 
Mike Hedges 
Julie Morgan 
Gwyn Price 
Jenny Rathbone 
Aled Roberts 
Leanne Wood 

 

  

   
Witnesses:  Huw Vaughan Thomas, Auditor General for Wales, Wales 

Audit Office 
Bernard Galton, Director General, PPCS 
Crispin O'Connell, Deputy Director, Places and Services 
Division 
Dame Gillian Morgan, Permanent Secretary, Welsh 
Government 
Paul Dimblebee, Group Director - Performance Audit, 
WAO 
 

  

   
Committee Staff:  Bethan Webber (Clerk) 

Daniel Collier (Deputy Clerk) 
Joanest Jackson (Legal Advisor) 

 
  

 

1. Introductions, apologies and substitutions  

 

2. Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 
from the meeting for the following business:  
Items 3 and 4. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



 

3. Update on the Estimate of Income and Expenditure of the WAO for 
the year ending 31 March 2012  
3.1 The Committee discussed the Estimate of Income and Expenditure of the Wales 
Audit Office for the year ending 31 March 2012. 
 

4. Briefing from the Auditor General for Wales on the Wales Audit 
Office report on Picture of Public Services 2011  
4.1 The Committee received a briefing from the Auditor General for Wales on the Wales 
Audit Office report, A Picture of Public Services 2011 – The key financial challenges 
facing Welsh public services. 
 

5. The delivery of ICT services and ICT projects under the Merlin 
contract: Evidence from The Permanent Secretary  
5.1 The Committee welcomed Dame Gillian Morgan, Permanent Secretary; Bernard 
Galton, Director General for People, Places and Corporate Services; and Crispin 
O’Connell, Deputy Director, Places and Services Division. 
 
5.2 The Committee also welcomed Huw Vaughan Thomas, Auditor General for Wales 
and Paul Dimblebee, Group Director – Performance Audit, Wales Audit Office. 
 
5.3 The Committee questioned the witnesses. 
 
Action points: 
 
The Welsh Government agreed to provide: 
 

• Details on the 298 different suppliers used outside the Merlin contract, including 
the number of those suppliers who are based in Wales. 

• Further information on savings made by avoiding disallowance, including how 
Value for Money was demonstrated and any reputational issues. 

 
 

6. Papers to note  
6.1 The Committee noted the papers and ratified the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 
TRANSCRIPT 
View the meeting transcript.  

Page 34


	Agenda
	3 Consideration of the amended Estimate of Income and Expenses of the office of the Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013
	PAC(4) 06-11 (p2) Correspondence from the Auditor General for Wales regarding his Estimate of income and expenses for the year ending 31 March 2013

	5 Consideration of Draft report on the Estimate of the Income and Expenses of the office of Auditor General for the year ending 31 March 2013
	6 Hospital Catering and Patient Nutrition: Evidence from the Chief Executive of NHS Wales
	7 Papers to note

